DURABLE MEDICAL EQUIPMENT

Federal Bureau of Prisons Clinical Guidance

June 2018

Federal Bureau of Prisons (BOP) Clinical Guidance is made available to the public for informational purposes only. The BOP does not warrant this guidance for any other purpose, and assumes no responsibility for any injury or damage resulting from the reliance thereof. Proper medical practice necessitates that all cases are evaluated on an individual basis and that treatment decisions are patient specific. Consult the BOP Health Management Resources Web page to determine the date of the most recent update to this document: <u>http://www.bop.gov/resources/health_care_mngmt.jsp.</u>

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION 1. APPROPRIATE DME ISSUE, BASED ON BODY PART OR COMPLAINT	.2
1A. MOBILITY ASSISTIVE DEVICES	.2
1B. KNEE PAIN	.3
1C. ANKLE PAIN	.4
1d. Back Pain	.5
1E. WRIST PAIN	.6
SECTION 2. TYPES OF DME DEVICES AND RECOMMENDED USE	.7
2a. DME to Use with Caution	.7
2B. KNEE BRACES	. 8
2C. ANKLE SUPPORTS	. 9
2d. Back Braces	0
2E. WRIST SPLINTS	11
2F. TENS UNITS: RECOMMENDED USES	12
SECTION 3. DURABLE MEDICAL EQUIPMENT: INDICATIONS, CLINICAL GUIDANCE, AND EVIDENCE	13
ANKLE SUPPORTS AND BRACES	13
General Ankle Support (e.g., Neoprene sleeve):	
Lace-Up Ankle Brace:	
Stirrup Ankle Brace:	
Ankle Foot Orthosis (AFO):	
BACK BRACES	
General Supports/Binders Hard Shell Back Braces (TLSO/LSO)	
KNEE BRACES	
General Knee Braces (Sleeves and Hinged)	
Metal Hinged Knee Braces (Sports Brace or Functional Brace)	
Osteoarthritis (Offloader) Knee Brace	
NECK SUPPORTS (SOFT COLLAR)	17
ORTHOTICS	17
Walking Aids	8
Canes	
Crutches	
Walkers	
WHEELCHAIRS	
WRIST SUPPORTS	
WOUND CARE	-
TENS UNITS	20
REFERENCES	21

PURPOSE OF THIS CLINICAL GUIDANCE

Pain management may include use of Durable Medical Equipment (DME) to aid in reducing pain, enhancing balance/kinesthetic sense and improving functionality. DME includes wheelchairs, walking assistive devices, braces, orthotics, and splints. The BOP *Clinical Guidance* on *Durable Medical Equipment* is designed to provide consistent and clinically sound information to support and justify decisions about the usefulness of DME for individual patients, particularly those within the correctional environment.

This guidance is divided into three sections to assist health care providers in determining the most appropriate DME choice for a given individual, based on the best available evidence:

- <u>SECTION 1</u> contains a series of "ready-decision" charts, organized by the affected body part and/or the nature of the individual's complaint.
- SECTION 2 contains a series of "ready-decision" charts organized by type of DME.
- <u>SECTION 3</u> provides more complete information on indications, clinical guidance, and evidence for using each type of device.

SECTION 1. APPROPRIATE DME ISSUE, BASED ON BODY PART OR COMPLAINT

1A. MOBILITY ASSISTIVE DEVICES



1B. KNEE PAIN



Federal Bureau of Prisons Clinical Guidance

1C. ANKLE PAIN



Federal Bureau of Prisons Clinical Guidance

1D. BACK PAIN



1E. WRIST PAIN



SECTION 2. TYPES OF DME DEVICES AND RECOMMENDED USE

2A. DME TO USE WITH CAUTION



* See Section 2F. <u>TENS UNITS: Recommended Uses</u>.

2B. KNEE BRACES



2C. ANKLE SUPPORTS



Federal Bureau of Prisons Clinical Guidance

2D. BACK BRACES



2E. WRIST SPLINTS



2F. TENS UNITS: RECOMMENDED USES



SECTION 3. DURABLE MEDICAL EQUIPMENT: INDICATIONS, CLINICAL GUIDANCE, AND EVIDENCE

This guide offers information on the indications, clinical guidance, and evidence for a range of DME categories:

- Indications for use are based on the best available evidence.
- Clinical guidance is based on the current standard of care and expert opinion.
- A summary of the best available *evidence* for each type of DME is provided, when available, based on Sackett's hierarchy of evidence.
- The *referenced studies* are listed by number in the <u>References</u> section.
- Please note that the Federal Bureau of Prisons does not endorse any specific DME companies or product lines.

ANKLE SUPPORTS AND BRACES

- General Ankle Support (e.g., Neoprene sleeve):
 - Indications: Typically used for mild, generalized ankle pain without sprain. May aid in warming and compressing the ankle joint.
 - Clinical Guidance: General ankle supports do not aid in stabilizing the ankle, but may aid in providing compression and warmth, while enhancing kinesthetic sense. May assist those with osteoarthritis.
 - > Evidence: General ankle supports have not been systematically studied.

✤ Lace-Up Ankle Brace:

- Indications: Typically used in the subacute and chronic phases after an ankle sprain.
- Clinical Guidance: All lace-up and semi-rigid stirrup braces significantly reduce passive motion, compared to no brace being used. It is recommended for all activities on unlevel surfaces for at least three months status-post ankle sprain requiring medical evaluation. The stirrup brace is best for preventing inversion sprains, but the lace-up can be used if a person is wearing shin guards. (See <u>Stirrup Ankle Brace</u> below.)
- > Evidence:
 - Research is inconclusive about whether ankle supports are helpful with chronic instability or in preventing ankle sprains.^{19,49}
 - Lace-up braces limit passive mobility in all directions; however, they are not as limiting in rapidly induced real-time situations.^{19,48}





Stirrup Ankle Brace:

- Indications: Typically used after an acute ankle sprain or in patients with chronic ankle instability.
- Clinical Guidance: This type of ankle brace may reduce the risk of reinjury if used prophylactically.
- > Evidence:
 - There is good evidence in Cochrane Systematic Reviews that semirigid ankle braces or air-cast braces decrease the risk of ankle sprains during high-risk sporting activities.^{19,25}
 - A study of 10 different types of ankle braces found that semi-rigid braces with a stirrup design restrict inversion under passive and rapidly induced conditions. May be used prophylactically in sports to prevent inversion sprains.^{21,49}
 - For severe ankle sprains, a 10-day below-the-knee cast is recommended to accelerate healing and clinical outcomes. However, the stirrup brace pictured above is also suitable and less time-intensive.³⁵
 - Use of a stirrup brace in the treatment of lateral ankle sprains significantly improves ankle joint function at 10 days and 1 month after injury, compared with standard elastic support management.⁶
 - Use of an elastic support combined with a stirrup brace demonstrates an earlier return to pre-injury function in those with first-time Grade I and II ankle sprains, compared to either treatment used alone.³

Ankle Foot Orthosis (AFO):

Indications: An ankle foot orthosis is most appropriate for a patient with noted weakness of the ankle stabilizer muscles that is likely due to an orthopedic or neurologic condition. An AFO will help stabilize and support the ankle, especially for those patients with foot drop, allowing them to ambulate. An ankle foot orthosis may be used for patients with multiple sclerosis, cerebral palsy, cerebrovascular accident, spina bifida, traumatic brain injury, peripheral neuropathy, or spinal cord injury.

AFOs can also be used to prevent contractures in those who cannot actively flex their ankle upwards repetitively. AFOs have some use in contracture management for those who have a non-fixed ankle plantarflexion contracture.

Clinical Guidance: A pre-fabricated or "off the shelf" AFO is not custom-molded for the patient. They are available in multiple sizes and can be accommodated or adjusted to meet patient needs. AFOs are generally used to assist patients who have weakness of their ankle dorsiflexor muscles to allow ambulation without foot drop.





BACK BRACES

✤ General Supports/Binders

- > Indications: No specific indications.
- Clinical Guidance: Back supports do not appear to aid in reducing back pain or preventing back injury.
- > Evidence:
 - In a Cochrane Systematic Review, it was noted that there is moderate evidence that lumbar supports



 Another systematic review demonstrated no evidence to support the use of lumbar supports or education in the primary prevention of low back pain in the workplace.⁵¹

Hard Shell Back Braces (Thoracolumbar Spinal Orthosis–TLSO/ Lumbosacral Orthosis–LSO)

Indications: Hard shell back braces are most appropriate for patients with compression or stable fractures, excluding spondylolisthesis. TLSOs/LSOs can facilitate healing postoperatively in the acute healing phase for spinal surgeries such as laminectomy or fusion. TLSOs/LSOs are not typically indicated for long-term use; however, they may be effective at supporting weak spinal/core muscles in patients with neuromuscular conditions (i.e., spinal cord injury, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis).¹¹



- Clinical Guidance: Hard shell braces can facilitate healing in patients with spinal fractures or post-operatively. They can support weak spinal muscles in patients with neuromuscular disease.
- > Evidence:
 - Spinal orthoses are oftentimes prescribed for immobilization following surgery or aid in alleviation of low back pain. Scientific literature does not provide adequate data to support or oppose the use of orthoses for either of these functions. The ability of orthoses to restrict individual intervertebral motions is questionable, and the postoperative outcomes of treatments with and without bracing are conflicting. Therefore, the decision about the use of orthoses is often based on a surgeon's opinion or experience.^{17,38}
 - TLSOs restricted 39% of motion in the lumbar region and 45% of motion in the thoracic region in three similar braces.¹³



KNEE BRACES

- General Knee Braces (Sleeves and Hinged)
 - Indications: A neoprene knee sleeve is supported for use in patients with osteoarthritis and pre-operative internal derangements. A neoprene sleeve likely improves a patient's joint-position sense.
 - Clinical Guidance: Both neoprene sleeves and offloader braces (see below) have demonstrated improvements in function and pain in patients with osteoarthritis.

> Evidence:

- There is strong evidence to suggest that people with knee osteoarthritis can walk further when wearing a neoprene brace after one year of wear.⁸
- Wearing a neoprene knee sleeve may help to prevent falls in those with knee osteoarthritis.¹⁴
- There is low-quality evidence to support that people with knee osteoarthritis experience a reduction in pain from wearing a neoprene brace.⁸
- Neoprene sleeves and patellofemoral braces have not been found to reduce pain or improve function in those with patellofemoral pain.^{1,38}

Metal Hinged Knee Braces (Sports Brace or Functional Brace)

- Indications: Use in cases of knee instability, as determined by physical examination and/or imaging. They may be used post-operatively to enhance knee stability through increased skin contact, resulting in improved neuromuscular control.
- > **Caution:** May pose a security threat.
- Clinical Guidance: May aid in enhancing functionality in someone with ligamentous instability pre-operatively.
- > Evidence:
 - There is moderate evidence to suggest that a "sports brace" may enhance functionality in someone with ligamentous instability.^{4,37}
 - A systematic review of brace wear after ACL reconstruction surgery did not show differences in outcomes between brace use and non-use.³⁷
 - A randomized multicenter clinical trial with a minimum of a two-year follow-up demonstrated that individuals who were braced after ACL reconstruction demonstrated no statistical changes in functional testing, Lysholm scores, knee range of motion, or isokinetic strength testing.⁴⁰

✤ Osteoarthritis (Offloader) Knee Brace

Indications: Osteoarthritis braces are oftentimes called "offloader" or "unloader" braces. They are designed to decrease loading and mechanical stress on the knee. They are more cost-effective and more effective in treating painful knee osteoarthritis than a standard hinged brace (see above). Osteoarthritis braces are most effective in enhancing mobility while reducing pain in those patients with unicompartmental knee osteoarthritis. The brace is customized by size and the particular compartment (medial or lateral) it is designed to offload. Improvement may result from enhanced proprioception and neuromuscular control.







- Clinical Guidance: Both neoprene sleeves and offloader braces have demonstrated improvements in function and pain reduction in patients with osteoarthritis. An offloader brace can serve to offload the medial or lateral tibiofemoral compartment, which is most beneficial when a patient demonstrates unicompartmental osteoarthritis (for example, medial offloader brace for patient with medial tibiofemoral compartment narrowing).
- Cautions: May pose a security threat. Ordering this type of brace is specific to offloading the appropriate tibiofemoral compartment.
- > Evidence:
 - In a Cochrane review, knee braces that were specifically designed for use with osteoarthritis were found to be effective for management of symptoms.⁸
 - Offloader braces were shown to have greater benefit than simple hinged knee braces during walking; they are also more cost-effective.⁸
 - High-quality evidence has demonstrated that a valgus-producing brace in patients with varus gonarthrosis (arthritic bow-legged knees) significantly reduces pain during functional activities after six months of use.³² In a Cochrane review, people were able to walk 1.8 km longer after wearing this kind of knee brace for one year.⁸

NECK SUPPORTS (SOFT COLLAR)

- > Indications: No specific indications.
- Evidence: Treatment with a soft collar was found to have no obvious benefit in terms of functional recovery after neck injury and was associated with a prolonged time period off work.¹⁶



ORTHOTICS

Indications: Research is mixed regarding the issuance of insoles. It is noted that in the general population, over-the-counter insoles are comparable to custom orthotics. Therefore, initial fitting with over-the-counter insoles is appropriate for the general population. Full-length insoles are recommended over those that are ½ or ¾ length.

Patients with diabetes and accompanying sensory loss, deformity, and a history of ulceration will benefit from a custom molded orthotic with a medical shoe. It is recommended that diabetic custom insoles are constructed by a qualified specialist.



Clinical Guidance: It is important to recognize that foot orthoses cannot be considered independent of a rehabilitation protocol that includes stretching and strengthening therapies. In addition, it is important to consider an individual's athletic regime, training surface, and current footwear. For diabetic individuals who have protective sensation loss, consider an extra depth shoe with compression molding inserts.

> Evidence:

- A recent Cochrane review demonstrated only limited evidence for the effectiveness of foot orthoses in treating knee osteoarthritis.⁸ However, the scientific basis for applying wedged insoles to offload an arthritic tibiofemoral compartment is well-documented.³⁹
- In-shoe orthotics are a beneficial intervention for preventing diabetic foot ulcerations, due to their cushioning and pressure re-distribution effects.⁴⁶

- Evidence exists to support orthoses for the treatment of plantar fasciitis.^{2,47} Customized semi-rigid insoles appear to have greater benefit than over-the-counter orthotics.²⁸
- The use of foot orthotics to treat patellofemoral pain demonstrates small to moderate benefits, at best. Treatments are variable, and the research in this area is not definitive.^{5,18,27,28}
- The evidence supports the use of foot orthoses to prevent a first occurrence of lower limb overuse. However, there is no definitive difference between custom and pre-fabricated orthoses. The evidence was insufficient to recommend foot orthoses of any type for the treatment of lower limb overuse conditions.¹⁵
- Custom-made orthoses are effective for painful pes cavus (rigid, high-arched) individuals.^{9,26}
- Evidence demonstrates that custom-designed and semi-rigid orthoses and special shoes are likely to be beneficial in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. However, further research is necessary.²²

WALKING AIDS

Canes

- Indications: Used in individuals with minimal to moderate balance deficits or those who have an antalgic gait.
- > Clinical Guidance: Can offload the opposite lower extremity by 40-60%.

Crutches

- Indications: Used for those individuals with minimal balance deficits after an injury or surgery.
- Clinical Guidance: Aluminum crutches are easier to adjust; however, wooden crutches are more durable.

Walkers

- Indications: Used for individuals who can ambulate, but require assistance due to weakness or balance deficits.
- Clinical Guidance: Front-wheeled walkers are the most stable. They are available in many different frames and options, including standard folding, bariatric use, and fold-down seats. Four-wheeled walkers with a seat offer moderate support and are best for those who may need intermittent rest while walking. Four-wheeled walkers do require more frequent maintenance and should not be propelled with weight on the seat.

WHEELCHAIRS

- Indications: Used for individuals with a reduced ability to walk due to neuromuscular or orthopedic pathology.
- Clinical Guidance: Wheelchairs are not appropriate for patients with back or radicular pain. In most instances, wheelchairs should be used on a short-term basis, and ambulation should be encouraged. Patients with spinal cord injuries require a lightweight or ultralight wheelchair and should be professionally fitted for the appropriate wheelchair and cushion.









WRIST SUPPORTS

- Indications: May be used in patients with carpal tunnel syndrome or rheumatoid arthritis.
- > Evidence:
 - Patients with rheumatoid arthritis tend to prefer working wrist splints, but there is not strong evidence to demonstrate the effectiveness of wrist supports in pain reduction, decreased swelling, or improved grip strength.²⁰



 A Cochrane review demonstrated improved symptoms after four weeks in patients with carpal tunnel syndrome. Symptom duration of less than three months and absence of sensory impairment at presentation are predictive of a lasting response to conservative

management.²⁴ No systematically sound studies to demonstrate benefit in patients with tendinitis or De Quervain's tenosynovitis. There is no evidence to support use in individuals with a "trigger finger."⁴²

 Nonsurgical management of De Quervain's tenosynovitis, consisting of corticosteroid injections and supportive thumb spica splinting, is usually successful.²⁹

WOUND CARE

- Includes mattresses, shower cushions, medical footwear, wound healing shoes, and compression.
- Please refer to the BOP Clinical Practice Guidelines on Prevention and Management of Acute and Chronic Wounds, Appendix 3: Durable Medical Equipment (DME) Resources. Available at: <u>http://www.bop.gov/resources/health_care_mngmt.jsp</u>

TENS UNITS

- Indications: Most appropriate for patients with chronic pain, such as: diabetic neuropathy, postherpetic neuralgia, phantom pain after amputation, and complex regional pain syndrome.
- Caution: TENS is contraindicated in those with a pacemaker or implantable cardioverter defibrillator.
- Clinical Guidance: TENS is a battery-operated device that uses electrodes placed on the skin to deliver low-voltage transcutaneous electrical stimulation for pain control. Although TENS is widely used in the treatment of chronic pain, definitive use remains unclear due to poor study methodology. There is no definitive evidence for the use of TENS as an isolated treatment for individuals with acute pain.²³



> Evidence:

- A TENS trial is considered an important nonpharmacological component in the management of chronic neuropathic pain.¹² One study showed that TENS applied weekly, and then once every month, reduced the pain and discomfort of peripheral neuropathy in 83% of diabetic patients.³⁴
- In a Cochrane Systematic Review, it was unclear whether TENS units are beneficial in reducing back pain intensity or have any role in reducing chronic low back pain.³¹
- In another review, pain relief for knee osteoarthritis could not be ascertained.44
- Systematic reviews have demonstrated conflicting evidence for patients with rheumatoid arthritis.⁷
- There is some evidence to suggest that TENS units may aid in reducing pain in patients with peripheral neuropathy.³⁰
- No conclusive benefit was demonstrated in a Cochrane Systematic Review for patients with neck pain.³³
- There is insufficient evidence demonstrating relief of pain in cancer patients (Cochrane database).⁴³
- Evidence for use in patients with chronic pain is inconclusive.⁴¹
- Overall study quality is poor, and research is evolving for further use of TENS.

REFERENCES

- 1. Arroll B, Ellis-Pegler E, et al. Patellofemoral pain syndrome: a critical review of the clinical trials on nonoperative therapy. *Am J Sports Med.* 1997;25(2):207-212.
- 2. Barredo RDV, Menna D, Farris JW. An evaluation of research evidence for selected physical therapy interventions for plantar fasciitis. *J Phys Ther Sci.* 2007; 19(1):41-56.
- Beynnon BD, Renström PA, Hough L, Uh BS, Barker H. A prospective, randomized clinical investigation of the treatment of first-time ankle sprains. *Am J Sports Med.* 2006;34(9):1401-1412.
- 4. Birmingham TB, Bryant DM, Giffen JR, Litchfield RB, Kramer JF, et al. A randomized controlled trial comparing the effectiveness of functional knee brace and neoprene sleeve use after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. *Am J Sports Med.* 2008;36(4):648-655.
- 5. Bizzini M, Childs JD, Piva SR, Delitto A. Systematic review for the quality of randomized controlled trials for patellofemoral pain syndrome. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther.* 2003;33(1):4-20.
- 6. Boyce SH, Quigley MA, Campbell S. management of ankle sprains: a randomised controlled trial for the treatment of inversion injuries using an elastic support bandage or an aircast ankle brace. *Br J Sports Med.* 2003;39:91-96.
- Brosseau L, Judd MG, Marchand S, Robinson VA, Tugwell P, et al. Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis in the hand. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2003;3:CD004377.
- Brouwer RW, van Raaij TM, Jakma TT, Verhagen AP, Verhaar JAN, et al. Braces and orthoses for treating osteoarthritis of the knee. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2005, Issue 1. Art. No.: CD004020. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004020.pub2.
- 9. Federal Bureau of Prisons, Health Services Division. *Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Prevention and Management of Acute and Chronic Wounds*, 2014. 1-67.
- 10. Burns J, Crosbie J, Ouvrier R, Hunt A. Effective orthotic therapy for the painful cavus foot: a randomized controlled trial. *J Am Podiatr Med Assoc.* 2006;96(3):205-211.
- 11. Carroll D, Moore RA, McQuay HJ, Fairman F, Tramer M, et al. Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) for chronic pain. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2001;(3):CD003222.Review.
- 12. Chen JF, Lee ST. Percutaneous vertebroplasty for treatment of thoracolumbar spine bursting fracture. *Surg Neurol.* 2004;62(6):494-500.
- 13. Chen H, Lamer TJ, Rho RH, Marshall KA, Sitzman BT, et al. Contemporary management of neuropathic pain for the primary care physician. *Mayo Clin Proc.* 2004;79(12):1533-1545.
- 14. Cholewicki J, Alvi K, Silfies SP, Barrtolomei J. Comparison of motion restriction and trunk stiffness provided by three thoracolumbosacral orthoses (TLSOs). *J Spinal Disord Tech.* 2003;16(5):461-468.
- 15. Chuang S, Huang M, Chen TW, Weng MC, Liu CW, et al. Effect of Knee Sleeve on Static and Dynamic Balance in Patients with Knee Osteoarthritis. *Kaohsiung J Med Sci.* 2007;23(8):405-410.
- 16. Collins N, Bisset L, McPoil T, Vicenzino B. Foot orthoses in lower limb overuse conditions: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Foot Ankle Int.* 2007;28(3):396-412.
- 17. Crawford JR, Khan RJ, Varley GW. Early management and outcome following soft tissue injuries of the neck—a randomised controlled trial. *Injury.* 2004;35:891-895.

- 18. Dai LY, Jiang SD, Wang XY, Weng MC. A review of the management of thoracolumbar burst fractures. *Surg Neurol.* 2007;67(3):221-231.
- 19. D'hondt NE, Aufdemkampe G, Kerkhoffs GMMJ, Struij PAA, Verheul C. Orthotic devices for treating patellofemoral pain syndrome. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2009;Issue 1. CD002267.
- de Vries JS, Krips R, Sierevelt IN, Blankevoort L, van Dijk CN. Interventions for treating chronic ankle instability. *Cochrane Database of Syst Rev.* 2006, Issue 4. Art. No.: CD004124. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004124.pub2.
- 21. Egan M, Brosseau L, Farmer M, Ouimet MA, Rees S, et al. Splints and orthosis for treating rheumatoid arthritis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2001, Issue 4. Art. No.: CD004018. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004018.
- 22. Eils E, Demming C, Kollmeier G, Thorwestern L, Völker K, et al. Comprehensive testing of 10 different ankle braces: evaluation of passive and rapidly induced stability in subjects with chronic ankle instability. *Clinical Biomechanics.* 2002;17:526-535.
- 23. Farrow SJ, Kingsley GH, Scott DL. Interventions for foot disease in rheumatoid arthritis: a systematic review. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2005;53(4):593-602.
- 24. Freynet A, Falcoz PE. Is transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation effective in relieving postoperative pain after thoracotomy? *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg.* 2010;10(2):283-288. Epub 2009 Nov 12.
- Graham RG, Hudson DA, Solomon M, Singer M. A prospective study to assess the outcome of steroid injections and wrist splinting for the treatment of carpal tunnel syndrome. *Plast Reconstr Surg.* 2004;113(2):550-556.
- Handoll HHG, Rowe BH, Quinn KM, de Bie R. Interventions for preventing ankle ligament injuries. *Cochrane Database System Rev.* 2001, Issue 3. Art. No.: CD000018. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD000018.
- Hawke F, Burns J, Radford JA, du Toit V. Custom-made foot orthoses for the treatment of foot pain. *Cochrane Database System Rev.* 2008, Issue 3. Art. No.:CD006801. DOI:10.1002/14651858.CD006801.pub2.
- Hossain M, Alexander P, Burls A, Jobanputra P. Foot orthoses for patellofemoral pain in adults. Cochrane Database System Rev. 2011, Issue 1. Art. No.: CD008402. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD008402.pub2.
- 29. Hume P, Hopkins W, Rome K, Maulder P, Coyle G, et al. Effectiveness of foot orthoses for treatment and prevention of lower limb injuries: a review. *Sports Med.* 2008;38(9):759-779.
- 30. Ilyas AM, Ast M, Schaffer AA, Thoder J. De Quervain tenosynovitis of the wrist. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg.* 2008;16(2):35A.
- Jin DM, Xu Y, Geng DF, Yan TB. Effect of transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation on symptomatic diabetic peripheral neuropathy: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* 2010;89(1):10-15. Epub 2010 May 26.
- Khadilkar A, Odebiyi DO, Brosseau L, Wells GA. Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) versus placebo for chronic low-back pain. *Cochrane Database System Rev.* 2008, Issue 4. Art. No.: CD003008. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003008.pub3.
- 33. Kirkley A, Webster-Bogaert S, Litchfield R, Amendola A, MacDonald S, et al. The effect of bracing on varus gonarthrosis. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 1999;81-A(4):539-548.

- Kroeling P, Gross A, Goldsmith CH, Burnie SJ, Haines T, et al. Electrotherapy for neck pain. Cochrane Database System Rev. 2009, Issue 4. Art. No.: CD004251. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004251.pub4.
- 35. Kumar D, Marshall HJ. Diabetic peripheral neuropathy: amelioration of pain with transcutaneous electrostimulation. *Diabetes Care.* 1997;20(11):1702-1705.
- 36. Lamb SE, Marsh JL, Hutton JL, Nakash R, Cooke MW, et al. Mechanical supports for acute, severe ankle sprain: a pragmatic, multicentre, randomised controlled trial. *Lancet.* 2009;373:575-581.
- Lidar Z, Beaumont A, Lifshutz J, Maiman DJ. Clinical and radiological relationship between posterior lumbar interbody fusion and posterolateral lumbar fusion. *Surg Neurol.* 2005;64(4):303-308.
- Linko E, Harilainen A, Malmivaara A, Seitsalo S. Surgical versus conservative interventions for anterior cruciate ligament ruptures in adults. *Cochrane Database System Rev.* 2005, Issue 2. Art. No.: CD001356. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD001356.pub3.
- 39. Lun VMY, Wiley JP, Meeuwisse WH, Yanagawa TL. Effectiveness of patellar bracing for treatment of patellofemoral pain syndrome. *Clin J Sport Med.* 2005;15(4):235-240.
- 40. Marks R, Penton L. Are foot orthotics efficacious for treating painful medial knee osteoarthritis? a review of the literature. *Int J Clin Pract* 2004;58(1):49-57.
- McDevitt ER, Taylor DC, Miller MD, Gerber JP, Ziemke G, et al. Functional bracing after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction: a prospective randomized multicenter study. *Am J Sports Med.* 2004;32(8):1887-1892.
- Nnoaham KE, Kumbang J. Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) for chronic pain. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008, Issue 3. Art. No.: CD003222. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003222.pub2.
- O'Connor D, Marshall SC, Massy-Westropp N. Non-surgical treatment (other than steroid injection) for carpal tunnel syndrome. *Cochrane Database System Rev.* 2003, Issue 1. Art. No.: CD003219. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.
- Robb K, Oxberry SG, Bennett MI, Johnson MI, Simpson KH, Searle RD. A Cochrane systematic review of transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation for cancer pain. *J Pain Symptom Manage*. 2009;Apr:37(4):746-753. Epub 2008 Sep 14.
- 45. Rutjes AWS, Nüesch E, Sterchi R, Kalichman L, Hendriks E, Osiri M, Brosseau L, Reichenbach S, Jüni P. Transcutaneous electrostimulation for osteoarthritis of the knee. *Cochrane Database System Rev.* 2009, Issue 4. Art. No.: CD002823. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD002823.pub2.
- 46. Smith TO, Davies L. A systematic review of bracing following reconstruction of the anterior cruciate ligament. *Physiotherapy.* 2008;94:1-10.
- Spencer SA. Pressure relieving interventions for preventing and treating diabetic foot ulcers. Cochrane Database System Rev. 2000, Issue 3. Art. No.: CD002302. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD002302.
- 48. Stuber K, Kristmanson K. Conservative therapy for plantar fasciitis: a narrative review of randomized controlled trials. *J Can Chiropr Assoc.* 2006;50(2):118-133.
- 49. Ubell ML, Boylan JP, Ashton-Miller JA, Wojtys EM. The effect of ankle braces on the prevention of dynamic forced ankle inversion. *Am J Sports Med.* 2003;31(6):935-940.

- 50. Vaes PH, Duquet W, Casteleyn P, Handleberg F, Opedecam P. Influence of ankle strapping, taping, and nine braces; a stress roentgenologic comparison. *J Sport Rehabil.* 1998;7:157-171.
- van Duijvenbode I, Jellema P, van Poppel M, van Tulder MW. Lumbar supports for prevention and treatment of low back pain. *Cochrane Database System Rev.* 2008, Issue 2. Art. No.: CD001823. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD001823.pub3.
- van Poppel MN, Hooftman WE, Koes BW. An update of a systematic review of controlled clinical trials on the primary prevention of low back pain at the workplace. Occup Med (Lond). 2004;54(5):345-352.
- 53. Walsh DM, Howe TE, Johnson MI, Sluka KA. Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation for acute pain. *Cochrane Database System Rev.* 2009 Apr 15:(2): CD006142.